IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC07-1652

JEREMIAH MAR	ΓEL RODGERS,
Appellant,	
vs.	
STATE OF FLORI	DA,
Appellee.	/
	APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

On direct review from a decision of the Circuit Court of the First Judicial Circuit imposing a sentence of death

> RYAN THOMAS TRUSKOSKI, ESQ. RYAN THOMAS TRUSKOSKI, P.A. FLORIDA BAR NO: 0144886 P.O. BOX 568005 ORLANDO, FL 32856-8005 (407) 841-7676

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is the second time that this court has reviewed this case. In <u>Rodgers v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 934 So.2d 1207 (Fla. 2006), this court affirmed the defendant's convictions and reversed the case for a new penalty proceeding. The court's opinion is hereby incorporated by reference and is in the appendix, along with other pertinent documents.

The defendant plead guilty to being a principal in the death of Jennifer Robinson. Co-perpetrator Jonathan Huey Lawrence was the actual shooter. On May 7, 1998, eighteen-year-old Robinson went on a date with the defendant. The date was part of the plan that the defendant hatched with Lawrence to get Robinson alone in the woods.

The defendant knew Lawrence when they were both being held in a state mental hospital. The defendant and Robinson drove to Lawrence's house to pick Lawrence up and use his truck. They drove into the woods and pretended to wait for Lawrence's girlfriend. While pretending to wait they mixed and drank Everclear grain alcohol with soft drinks.

The defendant eventually convinced Robinson to go with him to look at a marijuana field, which did not exist. As they walked back to the truck, Robinson

was shot in the back of the head. The defendant made conflicting confessions as to whether he or Lawrence pulled the trigger.

The defendant and the State entered into an agreement whereas in exchange for a plea of guilty, the State would not argue that the defendant was the shooter, but that Lawrence was. <u>Rodgers</u> at 1210.

This court reversed the defendant's death sentence and remanded this case for a new penalty phase because the trial court improperly excluded various items of evidence that would have supported the defense's theory that the defendant was under the substantial domination of another and that he was so less culpable than his codefendant that he should not be sentenced to death. Rodgers at 1219-20.

This court held that this was not harmless error, "[g]iven the extensive mitigation which was presented in the case, including Rodgers' significant mental health history." Rodgers at 1219-20. This appeal is the byproduct of the new penalty phase ordered by this court.

Jury selection was to take place on May 7, 2007. The defendant instructed his trial counsel not to put on any evidence of mitigation. Tr2. 7-8. The trial court then questioned the defendant about this decision. The defendant said that he wanted to speak on his own behalf instead of having witnesses and experts who did not know him do it. Tr2. 10.

The defendant said he understood that he had a right to present mitigation, but that he does not want to do it this time. The defendant said his bad childhood did not make him do what he did. Tr2. 11-12. The defendant also said that death is his only escape and that he is only 30 years-old and living for 50 years or so in prison is worse than death. Death will give him peace. Tr2. 12-13.

The defendant's trial counsel said that he has investigated the case for mitigation and that he is prepared to present such evidence in this case, but for the wishes of the defendant. Tr2. 8-9, 15. The defendant reiterated that this was his own decision, not his attorney's, and that no one has forced, threatened or coerced him into making this decision. Tr2. 15-16.

The prosecutor noted that trial counsel should address whether he thinks the defendant has any competency issues. Tr2. 17-18. Trial counsel said he has reviewed the entire record of the case, including the various psychological and psychiatric testing that was done, and that he does not have any concerns about the defendant's competency. Tr2. 18-19.

Jury selection for the new penalty phase began. The defendant then decided during a recess that he wanted to waive his right to a jury trial. Tr2. 74. The defendant testified that he wants to waive his right to a jury because he trusts the court's judgment better than people. The defendant told the court, "I can count on

a death sentence with you." Tr2. 75. The defendant said that he discussed this strategy with his attorney and he wants to waive his right to a jury. Tr2. 76-78, 80-81.

The defendant said that if he could sign a paper right now and get a death sentence, and go back to death row, he would do it. Tr2. 81. The trial court found that the defendant has freely, voluntarily, and intelligently, after advice of counsel, waived his right to a jury recommendation. Tr2. 81-82.

The trial court stated that since the jury was waived, the court itself would look at the mitigating evidence that was presented at the first penalty phase. The State implicitly agreed. Tr2. 78. As noted in the sentencing order under review, the trial court did in fact consider the transcripts and the defendant's sentencing memorandum from the first penalty phase [R. 58].

THE FIRST PENALTY PHASE

The trial court found that the defendant, who was 21 years old at the time of the offense:

a.) was remorseful and sorrowful for the offense (Vol. V, p. 932);

- b.) suffered from life-long, crippling mental illness (Vol. V, pp. 921, 931) ["long and extensive history of his mental illness;" "the record is replete;" "It is uncontroverted"]); and
- c.) had been relentlessly sexually and physical abused as a child, in an "abhorrent" environment (Vol. V, pp. 927 930) ("substantial evidence before the court regarding Defendant's background that would mitigate against imposition of the death penalty").

However, the court found that two statutory aggravating factors outweighed this mitigation. The defendant and his co-defendant, Jonathan Lawrence, had been convicted of two other crimes of violence. One involved the attempted murder of Leighton Smitherman, a crime for which the defendant was found guilty in a trial in Santa Rosa County conducted shortly before the trial herein.

The other involved the murder of Lawrence's cousin, Justin Livingston, a crime to which the defendant had pled guilty. Vol. V, pp. 915-917. The crimes happened days apart, and shortly before the crime in this case. These prior convictions were found by the judge in support of the statutory aggravating factor under Section 921.141(5)(b), Fla. Stat. (1997) (conviction of prior violent felony). The second aggravating circumstance found was that the crime was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner. *Id.*, (5)(i).

I. Jeremiah Rodgers' Short, Tortured, Perverse "Upbringing"

A. 5 years old – "there is something pretty obviously wrong because he is so young"

A confidential psychological evaluation was conducted on the defendant when he was **five** years old and in *kindergarten*. V. 11, p. 1922. Kindergarten was the first time that "anyone outside the home got a good look at him," *id.*, and it is "really unusual" for a kindergarten teacher to refer a child of that age for serious psychological evaluation: "it means there is something pretty obviously wrong because he is so young." *Id.* (Angela Mason, licensed social worker). What was wrong was how the defendant was being treated.

Jeanelle Spoon Rodgers became pregnant by Steven Rodgers at age 14.¹
They married, and their daughter, the defendant's older sister Tamica, was born in January 1976. Steven and Jeanelle intermittently lived together, and Jeanelle became pregnant again. Jeremiah was born in April, 1977, in Orlando, Florida.

^{&#}x27;As will be shown, by the time the defendant was fourteen, Jeanelle, his mother, had coerced him into being her full-time "lover" by plying him with alcohol and other substances (like marijuana laced with **formaldehyde**, Vol. 11, p. 1960). One of the defendant's first memories is being sexually abused by his mother at the age of **3.**

Jeanelle "moved" to Pensacola with Tamica and the defendant. She wrote Steven's mother, Mary Pruitt, and told Pruitt to come and get the children or she would "give them away." Pruitt testified that she drove to Pensacola and picked up Tamica and the defendant. Vol. 10, at 1753. When Pruitt arrived, *Jeanelle had no diapers, baby bottles, formula, or baby blanket–nothing to take care of the children*, and no baby toys. *Id.* at 1754. The defendant was six weeks old. *Id.* at 1753.

Thereafter, Jeanelle would occasionally pick-up Tamica and the defendant and take them wherever she happened to be going, and then, if they were lucky, she would return the babies to Pruitt. *Id.* at 1755. On at least one of these perilous treks, Jeanelle attempted to hitchhike to Orlando to leave the defendant and Tamica for adoption–just drop them off on the doorstep (literally) of children's services.³ When Pruitt learned of this planned, total, abandonment, she sought and

²This was not a "move" in the traditional sense. Jeanelle simply always traveled, staying short periods of time with friends or relatives, and did not really live anywhere. Tamica testified that "we never really had our own place except for the last place we lived before I moved to my dad's" at age 10. Vol. 11, p. 1848.

³One of Pruitt's relatives picked Jeanelle, Steve, Tamica, and Jeremiah up at the side of the road, learned of the abandonment, convinced Jeanelle and Steven to "give her the kids," and took them to Pruitt. Vol. 10, p. 1759.

obtained legal custody of the children. *Id.* at 1759. She continued to let Jeanelle take them away, however.

Despite their inability to care for any children, Steven and Jeanelle had another child, Elijah, in 1979. Jeanelle was 17 or 18 years old. Things just got worse. Steven would show up for a few days and then leave for months at a time, providing no support, even during all three pregnancies. Vol. 10, p. 1629.

When Jeanelle and Steven were together, they drank alcohol and smoked marijuana all the time in front of the children. *Id.* at 1630.⁴ Steven would get drunk and beat Jeanelle with the children in the room, watching, *id.* at 1631, leaving bruises "quite often." *Id.* at 1728, 1740.

David Waldrup and his wife Faye knew Jeanelle and witnessed first hand the chaotic, life-threatening, and criminal environment her infants endured. For instance, Jeanelle came over to the Waldrup's home and asked for a ride to the welfare office in Orlando "to take Elijah down there and drop him off on the doorstep." Vol. 10, p. 1632.

⁴Tamica testified at sentencing that Jeanelle smoked pot and got drunk all the time. Zack, the defendant's step-brother born a little later, testified that his first memory of Jeanelle was her smoking marijuana from a "bong" in the living room, which he did not know was illegal until he started going to school. *See* section B, *infra*.

Diane told Jeanelle not to do that, and Jeanelle said "well, you just take him then." *Id.* at 1638. The Waldrups agreed to adopt Elijah, who was three months old, *id.* at 1728, so long as Jeanelle and Steve would leave them all alone.

Jeanelle agreed, and Steven, who was not to be found, "didn't give a damn." *Id.* at 1637. The Waldrups raised Elijah as their son from then on, *id.* at 1638,⁵ and his life was markedly different from the defendant's.

Thereafter, Jeanelle was constantly back and forth between Pensacola, Orlando, and other places unknown, and her occasional visits with Tamica and the defendant were very disruptive. When she would take them from Pruitt, they might stay anywhere.⁶ Jeanelle could not care for them, i.e., once when the defendant was a toddler Pruitt got him from Jeanelle and he was very sick. Pruitt took him to a doctor, and the doctor immediately admitted him to the hospital with pneumonia. Vol. 10, p. 1762.

⁵The Waldrups moved with Elijah to California, and received a letter from Jeanelle saying that she wanted to give Tamica and Jeremiah up for adoption also. Vol. 10, p. 1643. They did not respond to this. They later moved back to the Pensacola area with Elijah.

⁶Tamica testified that during these infant years she and Jeremiah were simply nomadic: "there was no one person that I was living with for a long period of time." Vol. 11, p. 1847. They never knew where they might sleep. "On the floor[O]n the couchJust, you know, depending on where we were at." Vol. 11, p. 1849 (Tamica's testimony). Letters written by Jeanelle during this time document this rootless existence. Vol. 10, pp 1733-34.

On one occasion Jeanelle weakly tried to get custody back from Pruitt by saying she was married to a man whose name Pruitt could not remember. Pruitt refused, because she "didn't like the looks of the person." Vol. 10, p. 1760.⁷

Jeanelle then married a man named Ronnie Walker. Pruitt allowed Jeanelle to have custody at that point,⁸ but the defendant and Tamica continued to live for long stretches of time with Pruitt. *Id.* at 1764. Jeanelle and Walker then had a son,

Zack.

B. Age 5 - 9: "something is very deeply wrong"

The defendant was promoted from the second and third grades of school, but he did not pass them. "He wasn't able to focus and concentrate in school, and they moved him up, even though he was not academically ready." Vol. 11, p. 1925 (Angela Mason). Then he was placed in a severely emotionally disturbed class, "[a] classification that is most profound." *Id.* at 1928.

⁷According to Mr. Waldrup who adopted Elijah, the suitor's's name was Carlson. Jeanelle married him for the sole purpose of using his money and she only stayed with him for two or three days and then left him. Vol. 10, p. 1748.

⁸Walker was supposed to be Zack's father, but Pruitt doubted that he was. Jeanelle constantly told Zack that Walker was not his father. Vol. 10, 1761, 1824.

"Sometimes a child will be placed in Emotionally Handicapped; if that's not sufficient, that's sort of the end of the line. They might [as here] be placed in a special school for severely and emotionally disturbed." *Id.* at 1928. This means "they have tried everything else."

This is not about behavior—this is way beyond behavior ... this means *something is very deeply wrong*. He just couldn't function in the classroom. He didn't respond to even a small class setting with a lot of attention. *Id.* at 1929 (Angela Mason).

The defendant's home life between the age of five and nine was hellish. He lived with his older sister, Tamica, and his younger step-brother, Zack. Jeanelle stayed drunk and stoned, beat the kids, and openly engaged in sex acts with various people the children did not know. They never stayed in one place for

⁹Zack lived with Jeanelle and Ronnie Walker until he was about two years old, and then Ronnie Walker left. After Zack was two, Jeremiah and Tamica lived with Zack and Jeanelle "sometimes," until Zack was dropped off on Walker's doorstep by Jeanelle when Zack was five or six years old. Vol 11, p. 1821. Like Jeremiah's brother Elijah, Zack thus escaped from Jeanelle; sadly, Jeremiah did not.

¹⁰Jeanelle had other forms of torture for the children also. For example, she made them wear soiled underwear around on their heads as punishment for soiling them. Vol. 11, p. 1843; *see also id* at 1829.

¹¹Jeanelle would have sex with men while eight year old Tamica was in the bed. Vol. 11, p 1857.

long--"every time it came time to pay the bills, that's when we moved at least once a month, it felt like." Vol 11, p. 1827 (Zack's testimony).

They never had money, Jeanelle never kept a job, and they never owned a reliable car. Vol 11, p. 1849 (Tamica's testimony). Whatever child care-taking occurred fell to Tamica, beginning at about age 8. *Id.* at 1850. When she failed at child raising—cooking, cleaning, getting the boys to school—she would be "smacked in the face" and beaten with a belt. *Id.* at 1852.

Jeanelle was much worse to the defendant. When Jeanelle beat him she "couldn't stop" and the defendant "would have belt bruise marks, like, on his back, on his butt, and on his legs, and it would bruise." *Id.* (Tamica's testimony)¹² "I didn't get it like that," Tamica said. *Id.*¹³

Jeanelle "drank and smoked a lot of reefer, definitely," Tamica testified.

Vol. 11, p. 1857. "She was drunk all the time." *Id.* Zack's earliest memory of his mother is her "smoking out of a bong in the living room in an old trailer with a

¹²Jeanelle would stay sober until 10:00 a.m., and then she would get drunk, beat the children, and yell angrily at everyone. Vol. 11, at 1828 - 1825.

¹³Tamica did not get beaten like Jeremiah, did not get raped repeatedly by her parent, had a positive experience at school, where she got good grades, and was doted over and loved by Pruitt. Elijah left the environment when he was an infant, as did Zack. Jeremiah is different from his sister and his brothers because they "didn't get it" the way Jeremiah did.

bunch of people partying." *Id.* at 1822. She smoked marijuana "quite frequently," and Zack "didn't even know it was illegal until I went to school." *Id.*

Jeanelle was constantly ("lots") doing drugs and partying with different men ("a lot of different ones") in the presence of the children. *Id.* at 1823, 1830-31.¹⁴ She went to bars and took the children with her, or she just left them at home alone unsupervised. The kids often awakened in the middle of the night with no adults in the house–they were at a bar. Vol. 11, pp. 1859-60. Tamica remembers her mom being arrested for alcohol related offenses on some of the evenings when the children were left at home alone. *Id*.

At age nine, the defendant went to live with his father Steve. One year later Tamica did the same. Before that she had seen her father Steven once, and he was drunk. *Id.* at 1854.¹⁵

¹⁴Zack testified that Jeanelle's boyfriends "beat her, and called her names" in front of him. Vol. 11, p. 1829. Numerous police reports document that Jeanelle was beaten by different men in the home when the children were there. Vol. 11, p. 1955, 1958.

¹⁵When she lived for the next year with Steve, he "would come home extremely drunk–falling over drunk. Couldn't stand up hardly, and my step-mom would have to help him eat, take a shower, whatever. For the whole complete year, that's all I knew of my dad, pretty much." Vol. 11, p. 1882.

C. Ages 9 - 13: Self-mutilation, predator mother, Prozac, and hospitalization: "he needs more mental health care than jail time"

Tamica reports that when the defendant was 10 years old he was in deep psychological turmoil and was "hurting himself." Vol 11, p. 1888. "He put tacks in his arms. He would take, like, a knife and make marks on his arms, just – just make lines – cuts on his arms." *Id.* "And then shortly after that, everything just kind of led – you, know – he started leaving the house, going out the window leaving. Things like that." *Id.* p. 1889.

The defendant was drinking alcohol and "huffing gasoline." *Id.* at 1889. He would try to flee whenever he could, sometimes taking his father's car. He committed petty crimes and would get locked up in the detention facility. *Id.* at 1883.

When the defendant was 11 or twelve years old, he was hospitalized at Laurel Oaks for depression and prescribed Prozac, which Steven did "not fill . . . continuously." Defense Exhibit 54; *see also* Vol. 11, pp. 1947 (testimony of Angela Mason).

Testing at school indicated that the defendant was in the "clinical range for internalized behavior," and he was designated for "severely emotionally disturbed" placement. Defense Exhibit 30D. He deteriorated. West Lake Hospital in Longwood, Florida, is a psychiatric hospital. The defendant was admitted on October 2, 1990, at age 13, with an admitting diagnosis of major depression. He was suicidal. Defense Exhibit 31. "Patient appears to have a longstanding problem of about 4-5 years that was not treated at any point." *Id.* (emphasis added). 18

He was kept at this psychiatric facility for 2 ½ weeks. He "discussed his history of being physically/sexually/emotionally abused by his biological mother as well as her husbands and boyfriends," Defense Ex. 31A, and described "severe parental abuse by mother ... severe beatings and her wanting him to take drugs." *Id.* (emphasis added).

¹⁶According to David Foy, a defense psychologist and expert in such tests, this testing revealed that "he is ill." Vol. 12, p. 2059.

¹⁷School records from when Jeremiah was **eleven** years old document that he had admitted to suicidal ideas.

¹⁸"[A] significant stressor occurred 3 months ago in which the patient's uncle committed suicide by shooting himself in the head with a gun, after he killed someone else." Defense Exhibit 31.

"He had made a police report on his mother due to the mother selling marijuana and cocaine." *Id.* His father confirmed that "there was possible physical abuse by mother when he was living with mother." *Id.*¹⁹ Psychiatric staff diagnosed the *13 year old* with Post-traumatic stress disorder, and other ailments. The staff medicated him and *placed him in four point restraints* because he was so traumatized. Staff again prescribed **Prozac** for depression, and also Ativan for trauma. *Id.*

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