# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JEREMIAH MARTEL RODGERS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC07-1652

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.\_\_\_/

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

#

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

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY NOT SUA SPONTE CONDUCTING A COMPETENCY HEARING BEFORE ALLOWING RODGERS TO WAIVE A JURY AT THE PENALTY PHASE? (Restated)

Rodgers asserts he was not competent to waive his right to a jury at the penalty phase. Nothing in Rodgers' behavior or responses raised a bona fide doubt about his competency. The trial court noted that he observed nothing about Rodgers to raise concerns regarding competency nor had the trial court seen any signs the week prior to the penalty phase during the pretrial conference. Defense counsel also stated on the record that nothing in Rodgers' behavior or responses during his dealing with Rodgers caused him to believed that Rodgers was not competent. Rodgers suffers from PTSD and borderline personality Neither of these conditions affect competency to disorder. The trial court properly did not sua sponte stand trial. conduct a competency hearing because there was no bona fide doubt about Rodgers' competency.

# The trial court's ruling

During the jury selection, the trial court noted that he observed nothing about Rodgers to raise concerns regarding competency nor had he seen any signs the prior week during the pretrial conference. (RR Vol. I 19). The trial court inquired of defense counsel if anything in his dealing with Rodgers caused counsel to believed that Rodgers was not competent (RR Vol. I 19). Defense counsel responded: "No. your honor." (RR Vol. I 19). Defense counsel stated that nothing in their written

correspondence or any of their discussion occurred that would have lead counsel to think Rodgers was nott competent. (RR Vol. I 19). Defense counsel stated that Rodgers had "been competent, as far as I'm concerned, since I've been involved in this case."(RR Vol. I 19).

# Preservation

This type of claim is not required to be preserved. The trial court has a duty to sua sponte conduct a competency hearing <u>if</u> the defendant's behavior or responses raise a bona fide doubt about a defendant's competency in the absence of a request by defense counsel. It is fundamental error not to do so. Holland v. State, 634 So.2d 813, 815 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994) (holding that the appellant's failure to request a competency hearing did not constitute a waiver of the trial court's duty to hold a hearing); State v. Tait, 387 So.2d 338, 341 (Fla. 1980)(concluding that the trial court's duty to hold a hearing to determine competence to stand trial does not depend on the making of a motion by the defendant, but there was nothing presented or available to the court which would constitute reasonable ground to conclude that at the time of trial the defendant was insane). But it is not fundamental error in this cases because nothing in Rodgers' conduct or responses raised such a doubt.

# The standard of review

If a trial court holds a hearing and then determines that the defendant is competent, the standard of review is clearly

erroneous. United States v. Hogan, 986 F.2d 1364, 1372 (11th Cir. 1993)(holding that a district court's determination that a defendant is competent to stand trial is not reviewed *de novo*, it is not reviewed with a hard look, it is not reviewed under anything other than a clearly erroneous standard). However, where no competency hearing was held and the claim is the trial court committed fundamental error by not holding such a hearing, the standard is probably de novo.

# Merits

The failure to observe procedures adequate to protect a defendant's right not to be tried or convicted while incompetent to stand trial deprives him of his due process right to a fair trial. Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162, 172, 95 S.Ct. 896, 904, 43 L.Ed.2d 103 (1975); Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375, 86 S.Ct. 836, 15 L.Ed.2d 815 (1966). "In determining whether a defendant is competent to stand trial, the trial court must decide whether the defendant has sufficient present ability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding-and whether he has a rational as well as a factual understanding of the proceedings against him." Boyd v. State, 910 So.2d 167, 186-187 (Fla. 2005)(citing Hardy v. State, 716 So.2d 761, 763 (Fla. 1998)(quoting Dusky v. United States, 362 U.S. 402, 402, 80 S.Ct. 788, 4 L.Ed.2d 824 (1960)). Trial courts are to order competency hearings whenever it appears necessary based on the defendant's history or behavior in court. Boyd, 910 So.2d at 187 (citing Gibson v. State, 474 So.2d 1183, 1184 (Fla. 1985)). The only impetus placed on a trial judge is to conduct a hearing

when events indicate that the defendant is incompetent or upon a motion to do so. *Boyd*, 910 So.2d at 187 (citing *Carter v. State*, 576 So.2d 1291, 1292 (Fla. 1989)).

The rule of criminal procedure governing incompetence to proceed, rule 3.210, provides:

(a) Proceedings Barred during Incompetency. A person accused of an offense or a violation of probation or community control who is mentally incompetent to proceed at any material stage of a criminal proceeding shall not be proceeded against while incompetent.

"material stage of a criminal (1)Α proceeding" shall include the trial of the case, pretrial hearings involving questions of fact on which the defendant might be expected to testify, entry of a plea, violation of probation or violation of community control proceedings, sentencing, hearings on issues regarding a defendant's failure to comply with court orders or conditions, or other matters where the mental competence of the defendant is necessary for a just resolution of the issues being considered. The terms "competent," "competence," "incompetent," terms and "incompetence," as used in rules 3.210-3.219, shall refer to mental competence or incompetence to proceed at a material stage of a criminal proceeding.

(2) The incompetence of the defendant shall not preclude such judicial action, hearings on motions of the parties, discovery proceedings, or other procedures that do not require the personal participation of the defendant.

(b) Motion for Examination. If, at any material stage of a criminal proceeding, the court of its own motion, or on motion of counsel for the defendant or for the state, has reasonable ground to believe that the defendant is not mentally competent to proceed, the court shall immediately enter its order setting a time for a hearing to determine the defendant's mental condition, which shall be held no later than 20 days after the date of the filing of the motion, and shall order the defendant to be examined by no more than 3, nor fewer than 2, experts prior to the date of the hearing. Attorneys for the state and the defendant may be present at the examination. (1) A written motion for the examination made by counsel for the defendant shall contain a certificate of counsel that the motion is made in good faith and on reasonable grounds to believe that the defendant is incompetent to proceed. To the extent that it does not invade the lawyer-client privilege, the motion shall contain a recital of the specific observations of and conversations with the defendant that have formed the basis for the motion.

(2) A written motion for the examination made by counsel for the state shall contain a certificate of counsel that the motion is made in good faith and on reasonable grounds to believe the defendant is incompetent to proceed and shall include a recital of the specific facts that have formed the basis for the motion, including a recitation of the observations of and statements of the defendant that have caused the state to file the motion.

(3) If the defendant has been released on bail or other release provision, the court may order the defendant to appear at a designated place for evaluation at a specific time as a condition of such release. If the court determines that the defendant will not submit to the evaluation or that the defendant is not likely to appear for the scheduled evaluation, the court may order the defendant taken until the determination of into custody the defendant's competency to proceed. A motion made for evaluation under this subdivision shall not otherwise affect the defendant's right to release.

(4) The order appointing experts shall:

(A) identify the purpose or purposes of the evaluation, including the nature of the material proceeding, and specify the area or areas of inquiry that should be addressed by the evaluator;

(B) specify the legal criteria to be applied; and

(C) specify the date by which the report should be submitted and to whom the report should be submitted.

The rule of criminal procedure governing incompetence to proceed to sentencing, rule 3.214, provides:

If a defendant is determined to be incompetent to proceed after being found guilty of an offense or violation of probation or community control or after voluntarily entering a plea to an offense or violation of probation or community control, but prior to sentencing, the court shall postpone the pronouncement of sentence and proceed pursuant to rule 3.210 (et seq.) and the following rules.

Opposing counsel asserts that rule 3.851(i) governing competency to waive postconviction proceedings in a capital cases, which requires the appointment of two experts prior to any waiver must be expanded to cover penalty phase proceedings. IB at 84. No such expansion is necessary. Rule 3.210 already applies to penalty phase proceedings. The State openly acknowledges that a capital defendant must be competent to proceed at the penalty phase of his capital trial. Even if Florida's rules of criminal procedure did not apply, constitutional due process would require a capital defendant to be competent at all stages of a capital case - trial, penalty phase, the Spencer hearing and final sentencing.

Here, mental health experts had previously examined Rodgers. Numerous experts had examined Rodgers prior to the first penalty phase and according to his own testimony, Rodgers was not currently being treated by DOC for mental illness.

Nothing in Rodgers' behavior or responses raised a bona fide doubt about his competency. The trial court noted that he observed nothing about Rodgers to raise concerns regarding competency nor had the trial court seen any signs the week prior to the penalty phase during the pretrial conference. Defense counsel also stated on the record that nothing in Rodgers' behavior or responses during his dealing with Rodgers caused him to believed that Rodgers was not competent.

Opposing counsel is mistaken about the role of defense counsel in the analysis when he asserts that the trial attorney's statement that the defendant is competent is legally insufficient because the attorney is not a mental health expert. IB at 87. As the United States Supreme Court has noted, while a trial court is not required to accept without question a lawyer's representations concerning the competence of his client, an expressed doubt in that regard by one with the "closest contact" with the defendant "is unquestionably a factor which should be considered." Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162, 178 n. 13, 95 S.Ct. 896, 907 n. 13, 43 L.Ed.2d 103 (1975).<sup>5</sup> So, defense counsel's opinion of his client's competency is "unquestionably" a factor for the trial court to consider in a competency hearing should determining whether be held. Indeed, the substantive due process test for competency is whether the defendant has the present ability to consult with his attorney and aid in the preparation and presentation of his defense, and no one is in a better position to determine that than defense counsel himself.<sup>6</sup>

 $<sup>^{5}</sup>$  The case opposing counsel cites is not to the contrary. Warren v. State, 543 So.2d 315 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989). In Warren, defense counsel filed a pretrial motion seeking a competency hearing based on the defendant's erratic behavior and statements. The trial judge, based on his own personal observation, denied the motion. The Fifth District concluded that the trial judge's independent investigation is not sufficient to insure that a defendant is not deprived of his due process right of not being tried while mentally incompetent. Warren supports the state's position that defense counsel's opinion is an important factor.

 $<sup>^{6}</sup>$  In a footnote appellate counsel asserts that the defense counsel could have meet Rodgers for the very first time that day in court. IB at 87 n.84. This is not accurate. The record refutes such an assertion. The trial court referred to a

Rodgers appropriately responded to all the trial court's inquiries during the waiver colloquy. There were actually two waiver colloquies - one concerning the waiver of presentation of mitigation and a second concerning the waiver of a jury. At one point in the colloquy, Rodgers did not understand the term "override" but that is a legal term, so it is not surprising that a person who is not a lawyer would not understand the term override. Indeed, that exchange shows that when Rodgers did not understand a word, he appropriately asked the meaning of the word.

Opposing counsel does not point to any particular conduct or response by Rodgers that he asserts should have raised a bona fide doubt as to Rodgers' competency in the trial court's mind. Appellate counsel seems to assert that the mere fact of mental illness automatically renders a defendant incompetent to waive a jury trial. It does not. *Muhammad v. State*, 494 So.2d 969, 973 (Fla. 1986)(stating "one need not be mentally healthy to be competent to stand trial.").

Moreover, Rodgers suffers from PTSD and borderline personality disorder. Neither of these conditions affect competency to stand trial. While both conditions are properly considered as mitigating, they simply are not serious enough to raise a doubt about Rodgers' competency. Additionally, Rodgers has a history of malingering and exaggerating the extent of his mental condition. The trial court properly did not *sua sponte* 

pretrial conference held a week earlier at which both defense counsel and Rodgers were present. Moreover, defense counsel refers to prior meetings with Rodgers in his discussion with the trial court while Rodgers was present and could have disputed the veracity of the reference.

conduct a competency hearing because there was no bona fide doubt about Rodgers' competency.

Rodgers' reliance on Brockman v. State, 852 So.2d 330, 333 2d DCA 2003) is misplaced. In Brockman, the Second (Fla. reversed and remanded, concluding that a competency District hearing was required. Brockman was a resident of a mental hospital who was charged with felony battery on a nurse at the Defense counsel filed a motion for appointment of hospital. experts to evaluate Brockman. The experts' reports were never filed or otherwise made available to the trial court. The morning of trial, defense counsel informed the trial court that, while two of the experts had found the defendant to be competent to stand trial, one of the experts had found him incompetent. Defense counsel told the court: "I am in a position where I do not feel that [Brockman] is competent to enter a plea in my opinion, but I'm not a doctor." Brockman had a twenty-year history of mental problems. The defendant had refused to take his psychotropic medication at the jail because he claimed he The trial court engaged in a short colloquy was allergic to it. with the defendant and proceeded with the trial rather than scheduling a competency hearing. The trial court was aware that Brockman had a history of mental problems; defense counsel questioned Brockman's competency; and a licensed mental health counselor raised specific concerns about Brockman's current competency in light of his refusal to take his medications. Based on these considerations, the Second District concluded that there were reasonable grounds to believe that Brockman may have been incompetent to stand trial.

None of the considerations referred to by the Brockman Court is present in this case. Here, unlike, Brockman, the trial court had the expert's prior reports that diagnosed Rodgers with PTSD and a personality disorder. Here, unlike, Brockman, defense counsel did questioned not Rodgers' competency. To the contrary, defense counsel assured the trial court that Rodgers was competent in his opinion. Here, unlike, Brockman, there is no concern about medication. Rodgers later testified that he is not currently being cared for by any mental health expert and is not being treated for any mental condition.

# Harmless error

This type of error, if any, is not subject to harmless error analysis. *Jackson v. State*, 880 So.2d 1241, 1243 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004)(noting the deprivation of the right to due process constitutes fundamental error, a harmless error review is not appropriate).

#### ISSUE II

# WHETHER THE DEATH SENTENCE IS PROPORTIONATE? (Restated)

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